RECEIVED

Jul 11 2022

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2021-001463

Anthony Wise,Appellant,

-v-

Kenneth E. Leap, Newberry Hospital, LLC d/b/a
Newberry County Memorial Hospital, and West
Fraser, Inc., Defendants,

Of Whom, West Fraser, Inc. isRespondent.

APPELLANT’S FINAL BRIEF

John E. Parker
John E. Parker, Jr.
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,
ELTZROTH, & DETRICK, P.A.
101 Mulberry Street East
Hampton, SC 29924
Phone: (803) 943-2111

-AND-

John W. Carrigg, Jr.
CARRIGG LAW FIRM
120 North Lake Dr.
Lexington, SC 29072
jcarrigg@carrigglaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT TO CREATE A JURY ISSUE AS TO WHETHER KEITH NELSON PUBLISHED STATEMENTS THAT APPELLANT HAD A SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTION?**
- II. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT NELSON'S STATEMENTS TO GEORGE WILSON, JR. COULD NOT BE DEFAMATORY BY WAY OF INNUENDO?**
- III. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT INAPPROPRIATELY DRAW AN INFERENCE IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD IN DETERMINING THAT THE DEFAMATORY RUMORS COULD NOT HAVE BEEN STARTED BY NELSON?**
- IV. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT INAPPROPRIATELY DRAW AN INFERENCE IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD IN DETERMINING THAT THE WARNING LETTER FROM DOLAN J. RUSSELL TO NELSON WAS NOT AN ADMISSION BY RESPONDENT THAT NELSON'S STATEMENTS TO WILSON WERE SLANDEROUS?**
- V. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT NELSON'S STATEMENTS COULD NOT BE DEFAMATORY BECAUSE THEY WERE "UNDISPUTEDLY TRUE ACCOUNTS" OF APPELLANT'S DIAGNOSIS BY DR. KEITH LEAP?**
- VI. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT THERE IS NOT A MERE SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE THAT NELSON'S STATEMENTS EXCEEDED THE QUALIFIED PRIVILEGE?**
- VII. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO AMEND?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from defamatory statements that were made by Keith Nelson, an employee of Respondent West Fraser, Inc., which cascaded into a series of defamatory rumors that ran unabated through Respondent's work force. These statements and rumors followed a workplace injury that involved Appellant Anthony Wise and falsely accused him of having a sexually transmitted infection. Wise filed a Complaint against West Fraser and others on March 7, 2019, in the Newberry County Court of Common Pleas, alleging a cause of action for defamation. (R. pp. 27-29). On June 3, 2019, West Fraser filed its Answer in which it (1) denied its safety director, Keith Nelson, published defamatory statements to other workers, (2) denied that the statements spread through its mill and damaged Wise's reputation, (3) denied that Nelson's statements were defamatory or capable of possessing a defamatory meaning, (4) raised the truth as an affirmative defense, and (5) raised the qualified privilege as an affirmative defense. (R. pp. 31-34).

After discovery, West Fraser filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on June 8, 2021, contending that any statements made by Nelson were true and that Nelson's statements were not defamatory *per se*. (R. pp. 35-56). The motion came up for hearing before the Circuit Court on August 11, 2021, with appearances by counsel for Wise and counsel for West Fraser. (R. pp. 121-151). Following the hearing, on August 17, 2021, Wise filed a Motion to Amend Complaint to add a claim for breach of confidentiality. (R. pp. 83-87). Wise subsequently filed a supporting memorandum, which also contained arguments in opposition to West Fraser's Motion for Summary Judgment, on August 26, 2021. (R. pp. 95-98).

On August 27, 2021, the Circuit Court issued a Form 4 Order granting West Fraser's motion and requesting a proposed order from West Fraser. (R. pp. 3-5). Wise filed a Motion for Reconsideration on September 2, 2021. (R. pp. 100-101). On October 11, 2021, the Circuit Court

issued a formal Order granting West Fraser's motion on the grounds that (1) there was not a jury issue as to whether Nelson's statements were true, (2) Nelson's statements could not be reasonably construed as defamatory by innuendo, (3) Nelson's statements to plant manager Dolan J. Russell were qualifiedly privileged, and (4) Wise's Motion to Amend Complaint was futile and unfairly prejudicial to West Fraser. (R. pp. 6-23).

Wise filed a Memorandum in Support of his Motion for Reconsideration on October 14, 2021, arguing that (1) there was sufficient evidence in the record casting doubt on Nelson's testimony and creating a jury issue as to Nelson's credibility, (2) there was sufficient evidence to reasonably support an inference that Nelson told employees that Wise had a sexually transmitted infection, (3) in the alternative, Wise had adduced facts sufficient to create a jury issue as to whether Nelson's statements were defamatory by innuendo, (4) Nelson's statements were a separate defamatory republication of Dr. Keith Leap's statements, (5) any statements made by Nelson to non-essential employees of West Fraser were not qualifiedly privileged, and (6) the Order inappropriately weighed the merits of Wise's proposed amendment and did not conduct a thorough prejudice analysis. (R. pp. 102-120). In a November 23, 2021, Form 4 Order, the Circuit Court denied Wise's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. pp. 24-26). Wise timely filed his Notice of Appeal on December 15, 2021. (R. pp. 695-699)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 7, 2017, Wise was working for West Fraser at its Newberry facility.¹ After reporting to work, he began to check the fluids in a forklift he would be operating during his shift. (R. p. 253, lines 1-2). When he began to pull up on the hood of the forklift, he felt something "give". (R. p. 253, lines 10-12). Wise was asked by a co-employee if he was ok, to which he responded that

¹ West Fraser is a Canadian forestry company that produces lumber, pulp, and woodchips, amongst other products. West Fraser maintains an operating lumber mill in Newberry.

“something gave”, ostensibly indicating that he had suffered a sprain or some other manner of physical injury. (R. p. 253, lines 13-15). After indicating to his supervisor that he was experiencing pain in his groin, Wise went to a restroom and upon inspection discovered that his testicles were swollen and painful. (R. p. 253, line 19 - p. 255, line 12).

Wise immediately notified West Fraser management that he needed to see a doctor. (R. p. 253, line 23 - p. 254, line 8). Wise was given an icepack to place on his groin area. (R. p. 254, line 8 - p. 257, line 13). During this time, according to Wise and Anthony Cannon’s deposition testimony, at least seven West Fraser employees were aware that Wise was experiencing significant pain in his groin area. (*Id.*; R. p. 439, lines 11-18).² It was obvious that Wise was in pain in his groin area, and that he was very uncomfortable. (R. p. 463, lines 20-24).

Keith Nelson was West Fraser’s Environmental Health and Safety Director in charge of overseeing any medical care employees would receive after they suffered a workplace injury. (R. p. 454, lines 4-6; p. 459, lines 16-20). Nelson took Wise to the emergency room at Newberry County Memorial Hospital (“NCMH”). (R. p. 263, lines 5-18). Wise’s wife, Pauline Wise, arrived at the hospital sometime after Wise and Nelson. (R. p. 264, lines 21-23). While diagnosing Wise, the attending physician, Dr. Keith Leap, made comments that there may have been a change in sexual partners that prompted Wise’s condition. (R. p. 278, line 19-p. 284, line 2). It is disputed whether this comment was made in the presence of Nelson, with Wise and his wife contending that Nelson was present. (R. p. 284, lines 3-23; R. p. 657, lines 3-13). This statement was false and untrue.

In his deposition, Nelson stated that after Dr. Leap left the room, he tracked the doctor down and requested an explanation as to what was really going on, to which Dr. Leap replied that

² Cannon is a forklift operator who works with Wise. (R. p. 436, lines 21-24).

Wise had an “infection” and would need a prescription.³ (R. p. 462, lines 6-17). Wise has confirmed that Nelson left the exam room as Dr. Leap did, and that he could see Nelson speaking to him in the hall but could not hear what they were discussing. (R. p. 302, lines 13-17). Nelson has claimed that he had no idea that anyone could infer any sexual component or innuendo from the fact that Wise had an infection, but this assertion is contradicted by the statement of Melody Jepsen, which documents that Nelson returned to West Fraser from the hospital and informed her and others that Wise had a “long worded infection” that possibly originated from his sexual history, and that the doctor had asked him about his sex partners in front of his wife. (R. p. 512, line 15 - p. 513, line 6; R. p. 691). Nelson also asked Wise if he thought that his wife had some kind of infection as well. (R. p. 298, lines 3-6).

Wise left the hospital with his wife and did not return to work until the next Monday, six days later. (R. p. 298, line 12). Nelson, on the other hand, immediately returned to the Newberry mill. (R. p. 465, lines 11-12). Upon returning to the mill, Nelson saw George Wilson, Jr., an employee and co-worker of Wise. (R. p. 527, lines 11-14). Apparently, by this time word had spread to other employees, like Wilson, that Wise had suffered sudden pain and discomfort in his groin that morning, with the prevailing belief being that he had likely pulled a muscle while lifting something. (R. p. 539, lines 9-14; R. p. 437, lines 2-6; R. p. 654, lines 11-16). According to Wilson and Nelson, Wilson asked Nelson how Wise was doing, to which Nelson claims he merely replied that Wise had an “infection,” supposedly without further explanation. (R. p. 527, lines 15-17; R. p. 466, lines 9-12). Wilson, in turn, claims that he told several other employees only that Wise had an “infection”. (R. p. 527, line 24-p. 528, line 3).

³ A prescription for an antibiotic was provided to Nelson for Wise. (R. p. 459, lines 11-14; p. 492, lines 9-10).

Curiously, under oath Nelson and Wilson both testified as to the contents of this discussion in nearly identical terms, stating that Wilson asked Nelson how Wise was doing, to which the only reply Nelson gave was that Wise had an infection, after which the conversation immediately ceased. Even more curious, no follow up questions were asked by Wilson as to the nature of the infection, given the employees' awareness of the location of Wise's injury, nor were any questions as to the nature of the infection asked of Wilson when he reported Wise's condition to his co-employees. Importantly, at this point, Nelson no longer believed that Wise's condition was related to the workplace incident; his belief was that Wise's infection arose from other circumstances. (R. p. 469, lines 1-11).

As previously noted, Nelson proceeded to the front office, where he informed Jepsen and others that the doctor had told him that Wise had an infection that was possibly sexual in origin, and that the doctor had inquired about multiple sexual partners. (R. p. 691). However, in his deposition, Nelson claimed that the conversation in the front office only took place with facility manager Dolan J. Russell behind closed doors. (R. p. 466, lines 13-25). Nelson testified that he told Russell about the doctor's diagnosis of an infection for which Wise was given a prescription, and he also testified that he informed Russell of the doctor's accusation that Wise had been with multiple sexual partners. (R. p. 466, lines 19-25).

However, Russell has denied that Nelson ever told him anything about Wise's condition being related to multiple sexual partners or a sexually transmitted disease. (R. p. 550, lines 6-16; p. 562, line 20 - p. 563, line 4). According to Russell, the only way a rumor concerning Wise's condition could have made its way into the West Fraser workforce before Wise returned to work was from the aforementioned conversation between Nelson and Wilson, and he did not know exactly what Nelson had told Wilson. (R. p. 56, line 21 - p. 564, line 11). Nelson has also admitted

to telling Wise's supervisor, Mike Shealy, that Wise had an "infection" and would be missing time from work. (R. p. 626, lines 18-23). Shealy was only responsible for keeping up with Wise's time, a task which did not require knowledge of the specifics of Wise's condition. (R. p. 517, line 17 - p. 518, line 5).

Unsurprisingly, in the coming days the rumor that Wise had been diagnosed with a sexually transmitted infection spread throughout West Fraser like wildfire. These rumors started well before Wise returned to work after recovering from his injury. (R. p. 538, line 23 - p. 539, line 2). Upon returning to work six days later, Wise was humiliated and ridiculed by numerous West Fraser employees for having a sexually transmitted infection, despite that this was not in fact what he was suffering from. (R. p. 540, lines 7-15; R. p. 586, line 24 - p. 588, line 8; R. p. 595, line 22 - p. 597, line 8; R. p. 608, lines 16-24; R. p. 618, lines 9-21; R. p. 437, line 9 - p. 438, line 22). No less than six West Fraser employees other than Wise have testified that they heard accusations in the workplace that Wise had a sexually transmitted infection. Somehow, in the days following Wise's departure from work, the discussion around West Fraser concerning Wise's condition transmuted from the belief that he had pulled a muscle into accusations that he had a sexually transmitted infection. And in that intervening period, only one person who was present at NCMH to hear the allegations of Dr. Leap had returned to the West Fraser mill: Keith Nelson.

Wise confronted several of his coworkers in an attempt to find out how the rumor had started. (R. p. 597, lines 9-19; R. p. 541, line 21 - p. 542, line 4; R. p. 610, lines 4-14). Frustrated, Wise went to Russell to inform him of the rumors and mistreatment he was experiencing. (R. p. 553, line 5 - p. 554, line 9). Notes from the meeting document that Wise informed Russell of the conversation between Nelson and Wilson, and that Nelson had told Wilson that Wise had a sexually transmitted infection after returning from NCMH. (R. p. 574). Russell promised Wise

that he would investigate the situation and take corrective action. (R. p. 554, lines 10-15). Russell called West Fraser's regional manager and corporate human resources representative and was advised to investigate the situation. (R. p. 554, line 17 - p. 555, line 1). Four days later, Russell had another meeting with Wise and told him that he had investigated the incident and taken appropriate action. (R. p. 575). Russell had sent a letter to Nelson, reprimanding him and informing him that he had very serious concerns about his conduct. In particular, Russell was concerned that the disclosures made by Nelson to Wilson could have been considered slanderous by Wise, and that his behavior had put West Fraser at risk. (R. pp. 577-578).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Circuit Court's Order does not properly apply the summary judgment standard. Rather than construing all inferences in the light most favorable to Wise, the Order's findings inappropriately weigh the evidence and resolve all conclusions in favor of West Fraser. In essence, the Order places a premium on Nelson and Wilson's testimony, ignores direct and circumstantial evidence indicating that Nelson and Wilson's testimony is not credible, and requires Wise to produce direct evidence proving that Nelson specifically told Wilson, verbatim, that Wise had a sexually transmitted infection. This is not what is required by the summary judgment standard and is a clear error of law.

"When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, which provides that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 524, 787 S.E.2d 485, 489 (2016). "Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts **if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.**" *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000) (emphasis added). Summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should be cautiously granted. *BPS, Inc. v. Worthy*, 362 S.C. 319, 326, 608 S.E.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 2005).

“In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 563, 633 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2006). Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the non-moving party must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). “In order to withstand a motion for summary judgment ‘in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a **mere scintilla** of evidence.’” *Fountain v. First Reliance Bank*, 398 S.C. 434, 441, 730 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2012) (emphasis added) (quoting *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009)).

Here, there are many reasonable inferences and conclusions that could be drawn from the facts, including an inference that Nelson told Wilson that Wise had a sexually transmitted infection. In the alternative, even if Nelson only told Wilson that Wise had an “infection,” it could have been defamatory by way of innuendo and by implication under all of the relevant circumstances, when viewed in the light most favorable to Wise.

ARGUMENTS

There are some statements that are clearly defamatory on their face. Statements such as “X is a pedophile” or “Y embezzles money from his clients” do not require much by way of explanation for the impartial observer to understand how damaging they could be to one’s reputation if untrue. Other statements, however, are much more insidious as they may appear harmless when taken out of context. For example, “X is enjoying his honeymoon with Y” seems innocent enough. When construed alongside the fact that X is in fact married to Z, the statement becomes defamatory. Likewise, the statement that “X has an infection” typically only informs the listener that X is sick, and may even elicit sympathy for X. When accompanied by a wink, a raised

eyebrow, or a smirk, it can take on an entirely different meaning and become incredibly harmful to one's good name, depending on the surrounding facts and circumstances. Unfortunately, the above-described scenario is exactly what befell Anthony Wise after he was injured at West Fraser's mill on November 7, 2017.⁴

A plaintiff must prove the following four elements to state a claim for defamation: (1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged communication was made to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) actionability irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication. *Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, L.L.C.*, 368 S.C. 444, 465, 629 S.E.2d 653, 664 (2006). In this case, Wise alleges that the defamatory statements, either on their face or by innuendo, concerned the "contraction of a loathsome disease" and "unchastity", making the statements actionable per se. *Goodwin v. Kennedy*, 347 S.C. 30, 36, 552 S.E.2d 319, 322-23 (Ct. App. 2001). Thus, Wise is not required to prove the fault and special harm elements. *Erickson*, 368 S.C. at 465, 629 S.E.2d at 664.

The question of whether a statement is capable of a defamatory meaning involves determining if a statement classifies under either of two categories of defamatory statements:

The defamatory meaning of a message or statement may be obvious on the face of the statement, in which case the statement is defamatory *per se* . . . If the defamatory meaning is not clear unless the hearer knows facts or circumstances not contained in the statement itself, then the statement is defamatory *per quod*. In cases involving defamation *per quod*, the plaintiff must introduce facts extrinsic to the statement itself in order to prove a defamatory meaning.

Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 508-09, 506 S.E.2d 497, 501 (1998). Thus, even if Nelson merely stated that Wise had an infection, it is an issue for the jury to decide as to

⁴ An occupational health doctor determined that Wise did pull a groin muscle while working on the forklift. (R. p. 48).

whether it had a defamatory meaning if Wise can adduce a mere scintilla of extrinsic facts supporting that the hearer could infer from the statement that Wise had a *sexually transmitted* infection.

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