**RECEIVED**

**Jul 14 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No.: 2021-001463**

---

**Anthony Wise, .....Appellant,**

**-v-**

**Kenneth W. Leap, Newberry Hospital, LLC d/b/a  
Newberry County Memorial Hospital, and  
West Fraser, Inc.,**

**Of Whom, West Fraser, Inc. is ..... Respondent.**

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Anne Laurie McClurkin, Esq.  
MAYNARD, COOPER & GALE, P.C.  
RSA Battle House Tower  
11 North Water Street, Suite 24290  
Mobile, Alabama 36602

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Wise Has Abandoned Any Appeal of the Circuit Court’s Order Denying His Motion for Reconsideration.**

While Wise’s Notice of Appeal purports to appeal both the Circuit Court’s October 11, 2021 Order granting summary judgment and the November 23, 2021 Order denying Wise’s Motion for Reconsideration, Wise’s Initial Brief makes no argument in support of reversing the Order denying his Motion for Reconsideration. His Initial Brief does not list this as one of the issues on appeal, address the appropriate standard of review applicable to a motion to reconsider, and does not even attempt to identify any error by the Circuit Court in denying his Motion for Reconsideration. Wise has abandoned his attempt to appeal the November 23, 2021 Order. Rule 207(b)(1)(B), SCACR (“[o]rdinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.”). See also *Central Realty Corp. v. Allison*, 218 S.C. 435, 451-52, 63 S.E.2d 153, 160 (1951) (where appellant served notice of intent to appeal order but failed to address order in initial brief, Supreme Court considers that issue to have been abandoned); *State v. Hornsby*, 326 S.C. 121, 125, 484 S.E.2d 869, 871 N.1 (1997) (issue not addressed in initial brief is abandoned); *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct.

App. 1993) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”)

**II. Wise’s New Evidence and Arguments Not Presented to the Circuit Court Prior to Entering Summary Judgment Are Improper and Should Not Be Considered.**

**A. Wise’s New Evidence Should Be Disregarded.**

South Carolina appellate courts have strictly enforced the rule that only evidence and arguments presented to the lower court in entering its judgment will be considered on appeal. *See Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456-57, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990) (rejecting claim raised for the first time in Rule 59 motion and observing the purpose of Rule 59 is not “providing a disappointed suitor with a post-judgment opportunity to argue that which could have been argued pre-judgment.”). *See also Spreeuw v. Barker*, 385 S.C. 45, 68-69, 682 S.E.2d 843, 855 (Ct. App. 2009) (refusing to consider a form that “appears only as an attachment to [party’s] Rule 59(e) motion”); *Jones v. Builders Inv. Grp., LLC*, 415 S.C. 321, 330 n.7, 781 S.E.2d 737, 742 (Ct. App. 2015) (trial court properly refused to consider new evidence at Rule 59(e) hearing and affirming decision granting directed verdict). *Norris v. Ferre*, 315 S.C. 179, 183, 432 S.E.2d 491, 493 (Ct. App. 1993) (denying party's motion to supplement record with matters not presented to trial judge). *See also Henning v. Kaye*, 307 S.C. 436, 438, 415 S.E.2d 794, 795 (1992) (ordering appellant to serve and file amended brief and designation of matter that comply with appellate rules and reminding appellant the record on appeal shall not contain matters not presented to the trial court).

Wise’s new evidence consists of Jepson’s notes, which Wise refers to in his Designation of Matter as “[w]ritten Statement of Melody H. Jepsen [*sic*], dated November 17, 2017” and in his Initial Brief as “Jepson’s Statement,” and the Deposition Transcript of Mike Shealy dated

December 19, 2019.<sup>11</sup> (Wise Designation of Matter at p. 3, ## 22 & 24; Wise Final Br. at pp. 5, 6, 7, 12, 18, 20, 22-23). As plainly evidenced by the summary judgment hearing transcript and Wise's correspondence to the Circuit Court Clerk confirming the filing of Wise's evidentiary submission opposing summary judgment, Wise did not mention Jepson or Shealy to the Circuit Court or file the so-called "Jepson's Statement" or Shealy's transcript with his evidentiary submission opposing summary judgment. (R. pp. 121-151 (Aug. 11, 2021 Hearing Tr.); R. p. 693 (Wise Sept. 1, 2021 correspondence to Clerk of Court confirming filing of evidentiary submission)). To the contrary, the first time Wise made any reference to or argument based on Jepson's notes was in his Memorandum Supporting Motion for Reconsideration filed on October 14, 2021 several days after the Circuit Court entered its final Order granting summary judgment.<sup>12</sup> (R. pp. 103-104 (citing Jepson's notes as Plf.'s Exhibit 4)). Wise's new argument based on an alleged defamatory publication to Shealy was not even raised in Wise's Motion for Reconsideration and was not presented to the Circuit Court at any time. (R. pp. 102-120). Wise cannot use a post-judgment motion to reconsider as a vehicle to introduce evidence into the record that was available to him and not presented to the Circuit Court prior to entering its summary judgment Order. The fact that Wise has attempted to do so in no way allows Jepson's notes or Shealy's deposition to properly be included in the record on appeal.

Further, Jepson's notes should not be considered for the additional reason that they are inadmissible hearsay. A party cannot rely on evidence that would not be admissible at trial to

---

<sup>11</sup> As discussed in the fact section, *supra*, at p. 21, Melody Jepson is West Fraser's local HR Manager at the Newberry mill where Wise was employed. The correct spelling of her last name is "Jepson," not Jepsen.

<sup>12</sup> It is well settled under South Carolina law that a party cannot use a motion to reconsider to present evidence or make arguments that could have been presented prior to the entry of judgment but was not. *Hickman*, 301 S.C. at 456-57, 392 S.E. 2d at 482.

oppose summary judgment. *Hansen v. DHL Labs., Inc.*, 316 S.C. 505, 510, 450 S.E.2d 624, 627 (Ct. App. 1994), *aff'd*, 319 S.C. 79, 459 S.E.2d 850 (1995) (“A genuine issue of fact ... can be created only by evidence which would be admissible at trial.” (citing SCR 56 (e)). In his Initial Brief, Wise asserts in a footnote that “Jepson’s Statement is admissible and is not hearsay under Rule 801, SCRE in that Jepson can testify at trial and be subject to cross-examination concerning the statement.” (Wise Final Br. at p. 13 n.6). Wise’s evidentiary argument, which also was not presented to the Circuit Court, misinterprets Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE. The fact that Jepson could be called to testify and subject to cross-examination on the “statement” does not make it admissible. To the contrary, extrinsic evidence of a witness’s prior statement is not admissible until the witness’s testimony expressly contradicts the prior statement. Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE, Advisory Committee’s Note (“It should be noted that the foundation requirements of Rule 613(b) must be met before extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement is admissible.”) Moreover, Jepson’s notes are not a “statement” as contemplated by Rule 801(d), and they do not contain the indicia of reliability contemplated by any of the exceptions to the hearsay rule set forth in Rule 803. Rules 801(d) and 803, SCRE. There are obvious discrepancies and ambiguities within Jepson’s notes (e.g., the notes reference dates occurring after the date her notes were signed and include vague references like “he” where it is unclear who the pronoun is identifying).

**B. Wise’s New Arguments Should Be Disregarded.**

Wise’s Initial Brief relies heavily on several new arguments that were not made to the Circuit Court in opposing summary judgment or at any time prior to entry of the summary judgment Order. “It is well-settled that appellants cannot raise new arguments or change their grounds between trial and appeal.” *Morris v. Anderson Cty*, 349 S.C. 607, 611 n.4, 564 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2002) (where record did not establish statutory arguments made in appeal were raised

or ruled upon by trial court, arguments were not properly raised on appeal) (citing *Taylor v. Medenica*, 324 S.C. 200, 479 S.E.2d 35 (1996)). *See also I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (the “purpose of an appeal is to determine whether the trial judge erroneously acted or failed to act and when appellant’s contentions are not presented or passed on by the trial judge, such contentions will not be considered on appeal.”)

Wise’s new arguments include additional theories of a defamatory publication based on:

- (i) the improperly submitted “Jepson Statement” (i.e., Jepson’s notes) (Wise Final Br. at pp. 5-6, 7, 12, 18 & 21-23);
- (ii) testimony concerning statements Nelson made to Shealy (Wise Final Br. at pp. 6-7);
- (iii) that before Nelson returned from the hospital, the alleged “prevailing belief” among mill employees was that Wise had pulled a groin muscle and this later shifted to a “consensus” that Wise had a sexually transmitted infection (Wise Final Br. at pp. 5, 12, 17, 19); and
- (iv) Russell “denies” that Nelson told him Wise was very upset because the emergency room doctor made the comment about Wise changing sexual partners. According to Wise, this alleged discrepancy in the testimony by Nelson and Wilson concerning what they discussed creates an issue for the factfinder. (Wise Final Br. at p. 12).

None of these arguments were made to the Circuit Court prior to entering its summary judgment Order. (R. pp. 121-151). Arguments or evidence that were never presented to the Circuit Court clearly cannot be used to show the Circuit Court erred, and Wise cannot rely on issues raised for the first time on appeal. *See Taylor*, 324 S.C. at 222, 526 S.E.2d at 56); *I'On, L.L.C.*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. The new arguments in Wise’s Initial Brief should be disregarded entirely.

Even if Wise’s new arguments are considered, which they should not be, they clearly do not establish the Circuit Court erred since the arguments were not presented to the Circuit Court. Additionally, Wise’s arguments are based on distorted characterizations of the deposition

testimony and other record evidence and otherwise fail to identify a genuine issue of material fact concerning Wise's defamation claim.

For the reasons already discussed, *supra*, at pp. 21-23, neither Jepson's notes nor Nelson's statement to Shealy establish Nelson told them Wise had an STD. Wise's additional new arguments also are unavailing. Wise's argument that the consensus of mill employees shifted from believing he had pulled a groin muscle to believing Wise had an STD misrepresents the record testimony. For starters, none of the individuals who actually heard Nelson's statements knew anything about the nature of Wise's injury or concluded based on Nelson's statements that Wise had a sexually transmitted infection. (R. p. 526, line 19 – p. 527 (Wilson Dep.); R. p. 626, line 24 – p. 627, line 4 (Shealy Dep.)). Likewise, none of the nine co-workers Wise deposed testified he believed Wise had a sexually transmitted infection at any time, and most testified that if they heard the rumor they paid no attention to it and it did not change their opinion of Wise. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 610, lines 4-17 (Praylow Dep.); R. p. 542, lines 16-18 (Neal Dep.); R. p. 599, lines 13-19 (Maybin Dep.); R. p. 628, line 23 – p. 629, line 2 (Shealy Dep.)). The only testimony Wise identifies to support the alleged "prevailing belief" among employees initially was that Wise pulled a groin muscle is the testimony of two coworkers, Anthony Cannon and Jeremy Neal.<sup>13</sup> (Wise Final Br. at p. 5). Even if Wise accurately described their testimony, which he does not, two employees hardly establishes a "prevailing belief" among all mill employees. Moreover, Cannon testified that before Wise was even taken to the hospital he overheard a coworker, Robert Johnson, joking

---

<sup>13</sup> Wise also cites the deposition of his wife, Pauline Wise, as supporting the "prevailing belief" among mill employees was that Wise pulled a groin. (Wise Final Br. at p. 5). The cited testimony does not even mention a belief that Wise had pulled a groin muscle. In any event, Mrs. Wise was not at the mill on the day of the incident and testified that everything she knew about incidents at the mill, including statements by mill employees, came from Wise. (R. p. 667, lines 17-23).

that Wise's injury was sexually related, and Cannon did not testify that he believed Wise had pulled a groin. (R. p. 439, lines 4-16 (Cannon Dep.)). Neal was not even at the mill on the day of the incident. (R. p. 538, line 23 – p. 539, line 21 (Neal Dep.)). Neal testified he heard Wise "had pulled something" and when he returned to work a day or two later he also heard jokes made that Wise had an STD. (R. p. 538, line 23 – p. 539, line 21). Wise's argument based on the alleged shifting "prevailing belief" among employees, while not properly made to this Court because it was not presented to the Circuit Court, is not supported by the actual testimony. It also is based on pure speculation and is not *evidence* sufficient to withstand summary judgment.

Finally, Wise's misguided reliance on an alleged discrepancy between the testimony of Nelson and Russell concerning what Nelson told Russell misstates the testimony and is equally insufficient to establish a genuine issue of material fact. Wise asserts in his brief that Russell "denies" Nelson told him that Wise was upset by Dr. Leap's alleged comment about Wise changing sexual partners. (Wise Final Br. at pp. 12-13). That is not what Russell testified, and even if it were the testimony does not establish Nelson told Russell or anyone else Wise had an STD. Wise's argument is precisely the type of "vain attempt to create an issue of fact that is not genuine" that South Carolina courts have recognized is insufficient to defeat summary judgment and is utterly unhelpful to Wise's appeal. *Main v. Corley*, 281 S.C. 525, 527, 316 S.E.2d 406, 407 (1984). Only disputes concerning a *material fact* can avoid summary judgment. Rule 56(c), SCRCF. A factual dispute is material if it might affect the outcome of the case. *Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 352, 827 S.E.2d 178, 181 (Ct. App. 2019).

While Wise contends that a jury should be asked to decide the alleged dispute between Nelson's and Russell's testimony, this is not a *genuine* dispute concerning a *material fact* because regardless of which testimony is accepted as true, the outcome is the same: Wise's claim fails as a

matter of law. Construing Russell's testimony in a light most favorable to Wise, it supports that Nelson did not tell Russell about the doctor's comment. Obviously, if Nelson did not make the statement to Russell this cannot be the basis for Wise's defamation theory, and his claim fails. On the other hand, if Nelson did make the statement to Russell it is qualifiedly privileged (*see, infra, at pp. 42-44*), and Wise's claim still fails. The so-called factual dispute between Russell's and Nelson's testimony is immaterial and fails to create a genuine factual issue.

Notwithstanding the immateriality of Wise's new argument concerning the Nelson-Russell communication, Wise's mischaracterization of Russell's testimony deserves correction. Russell's actual testimony given more than two years after the forklift incident was, "I cannot say with all certainty exactly what Keith [Nelson] told me that day, other than – I feel rather certain, you know, he said he [Wise] had an infection and that it probably wasn't going to be work related." (R. p. 550, lines 7-11). Russell proceeded to testify that he did not recall Nelson mentioning the doctor's comment to Wise about changing sexual partners. (R. p. 550, lines 12-16). Nelson's testimony, which Wise's counsel misquoted in his questioning of Russell, was that Nelson told Russell Wise was "very upset" because the doctor asked Wise about changing sexual partners. (R. p. 466, lines 18-25). The fact that Russell did not recall everything Nelson told him two years later is hardly an unequivocal denial that Nelson relayed the information to Russell.

Wise argues throughout his brief that his improper new evidence and new arguments establish the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment. Even if considered, which they should not be, for the reasons demonstrated above, Wise's arguments fail and the Circuit Court's Order should be affirmed.

### **III. The Circuit Court Correctly Determined Wise’s Defamation Claim Failed as a Matter of Law and Properly Granted Summary Judgment.**

#### **A. Defamation – Controlling Law**

To prove defamation under South Carolina law, a plaintiff must establish the following elements:

- (1) a false and defamatory statement was made;
- (2) the unprivileged publication was made to a third party;
- (3) the publisher was at fault; and
- (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication.

*Fountain v. First Reliance Bank*, 398 S.C. 434, 441, 730 S.E.2d 305, 309 (2012).

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